In the  
**Supreme Court of Ohio**

PRETERM-CLEVELAND, ET AL. : Case No. \_\_\_\_\_  
: :  
Appellees, : On appeal from the Hamilton County  
: Court of Appeals,  
v. : First Appellate District  
: :  
DAVE YOST, ATTORNEY GENERAL : Court of Appeals  
OF OHIO, ET AL., : Case No. C-220504  
: :  
Appellants. :

---

**MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF JURISDICTION  
OF APPELLANTS DAVE YOST, ET AL.**

---

ALAN E. SCHOENFELD  
MICHELLE NICOLE DIAMOND  
PETER NEIMAN  
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale  
and Dorr LLP  
7 World Trade Center  
New York, NY 10007  
212-230-8800  
alan.schoenfeld@wilmerhale.com  
michelle.diamond@wilmerhale.com  
peter.neiman@wilmerhale.com

DAVINA PUJARI

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE**

1. The Heartbeat Act protects unborn children with beating hearts in two principal

ways. *First*, it requires any “person who intends to perform or induce an abortion” to “determine whether there is a detectable fetal heartbeat.” R.C. 2919.192(A). Performing an abortion without checking for a “detectable heartbeat” is a crime. R.C. 2919.193(A). *Second*, the Act criminalizes “knowingly and purposefully perform[ing] or induc[ing] an abortion on a pregnant woman” after detecting a fetal heartbeat. R.C. 2919.195(A).

Critically, both provisions apply *only* to those who perform abortions—no penalties may be imposed on the women who obtain abortions. R.C. 2919.198. And the entire Act is subject to health-based exceptions. For example, the Act does not apply at all to ectopic pregnancies. R.C. 2919.191. And both of the just-discussed prohibitions—the prohibition on performing an abortion without checking for a heartbeat, and the prohibition on performing an abortion after detecting a heartbeat—do not apply when the abortionist determines, in good-faith and based on the facts known at the time, that compliance would pose a “serious risk of the substantial and irreversible impairment of a major bodily function.” R.C. 2919.16(F); 2929.16(K); *accord* R.C. 2919.193(B); 2919.195(B).

2. Ohio’s General Assembly passed the Heartbeat Act in 2019. Before it took effect, clinics challenged the Act in federal district court. That court preliminarily enjoined the Act as violating the federally recognized right to abortion. *See Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, 394 F. Supp. 3d 796 (S.D. Ohio 2019); *see also Roe v. Wade*, 410 U.S. 113 (1972); *Planned Parenthood of Southeastern. Pa. v. Casey*, 505 U.S. 833 (1992). But in 2022, the Supreme Court of the United States held that there is no federal constitutional right to abortion,

overruling the cases holding otherwise. *Dobbs v. Jackson Women’s Health Organization*, 142 S. Ct. 2228, 2242 (2022). That day, the district court hearing the challenge to the Heartbeat Act dissolved its injunction. *Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, No. 1:19-CV-00360, 2022 WL 2290526, \*2 (S.D. Ohio June 24, 2022). On June 24, the Act went into effect.

3. The same parties who are plaintiffs here—five abortion clinics and one abortionist—first asked this Court for a writ of mandamus prohibiting the Act’s enforcement. This Court refused to grant emergency relief. *See State ex rel. Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, 167 Ohio St. 3d 1448, 2022-Ohio-2317. Eventually, the plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed that case. *State ex rel. Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, 167 Ohio St. 3d 1510, 2022-Ohio-3174.

Having failed to win relief in the State’s highest court, the plaintiffs sued in the Hamilton County Court of Common Pleas. That court preliminarily enjoined almost the entirety of the Heartbeat Act. It first concluded that the plaintiffs had standing to sue under Ohio’s third-party-standing doctrine. *See Order Granting Preliminary Injunction*, T.d.105, Oct. 12, 2022 ¶¶73–80. Then, on the merits, the court concluded that various sections in Article I of Ohio’s Constitution—namely, sections 1, 7, 16, 20, and 21—combine to create an unenumerated, fundamental right to abortion protected by the substantive-due-process doctrine. *Id.* ¶¶81–96. It determined that the Heartbeat Act infringed this fundamental right. And it further held that the law could not satisfy strict scrutiny—the standard that laws burdening fundamental rights must meet. *Id.* ¶¶97–111. The Court further concluded that the Heartbeat Act infringed the equal-protection guarantees

in Article 1, Section 1, by burdening a fundamental right—the right to abortion—that only women may assert. *Id.* ¶¶112–23.

4. The appellants—this brief calls them “the State”—immediately appealed to the First District. That court *sua sponte* called for briefing addressing whether the preliminary injunction was a final, appealable order. *See* Entry Ordering Jurisdictional Briefing (Oct. 28, 2022). And, after receiving that briefing (along with the State’s opening merits brief), the First District dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction. *Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, 1st Dist. Hamilton No. C-220504, 2022-Ohio-4540 (“App.Op.”). It determined that the preliminary injunction was not the sort of interlocutory order that may be immediately appealed.

**THIS CASE PRESENTS A QUESTION OF PUBLIC OR GREAT GENERAL INTEREST AND RAISES SUBSTANTIAL CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES**

**I. The question of whether and when the State may appeal orders preliminarily enjoining state laws is immensely important.**

“All political power is inherent in the people.” Ohio Const., Art. I, §2. The State of Ohio is constituted so as to permit the exercise of that power. One way it performs that function is by enforcing the constitution Ohioans ratified and the laws “they and their representatives enact[ed].” *Thompson v. DeWine*, 959 F.3d 804, 812 (6th Cir. 2020) (*per curiam*). As a result, “[a]ny time a State is enjoined by a court from effectuating statutes enacted by representatives of its people, it suffers a form of irreparable injury.” *Maryland v. King*, 567 U.S. 1301, 1303 (2012) (Roberts, C.J., in chambers) (quoting *New Motor*

*Vehicle Bd. of Cal. v. Orrin W. Fox Co.*, 434 U.S. 1345, 1351 (1977) (Rehnquist, J., in chambers)); *Abbot v. Perez*, 138 S. Ct. 2305, 2324 (2018); *Thompson*, 959 F.3d at 812.

All that sets up the first question in this case: whether an immediate appeal of an order preliminarily enjoining a state law is, or can be, the State's only "meaningful" and "effective remedy." R.C. 2505.02(B)(4)(b). Ohio law permits parties to immediately appeal "provisional remed[ies]," including preliminary injunctions, whenever:

(a) The order in effect determines the action with respect to the provisional remedy and prevents a judgment in the action in favor of the appealing party with respect to the provisional remedy.

(b) The appealing party would not be afforded a meaningful or effective remedy by an appeal following final judgment as to all proceedings, issues, claims, and parties in the action.

R.C. 2504.02(B)(4). A preliminary injunction order, unless it is somehow tentative, always satisfies subsection (a). The appealability of such orders thus turns on whether the State can obtain a "meaningful or effective remedy" by filing an appeal after a final judgment.

This question is undoubtedly important. As noted, the State suffers a form of irreparable injury whenever its laws are enjoined. The answer to the question whether and when the State may redress that injury will significantly affect its ability to ensure that "the will of the people" is "effected in accordance with [Ohio] law." *Coal. to Defend Aff. Action v. Granholm*, 473 F.3d 237, 252 (6th Cir. 2006) (Sutton, J., writing for the Court). What is more, the State often files such appeals to vindicate state law. This Court accepts and resolves such appeals, vindicating state laws in the process. *See, e.g., Newburgh*

*Heights v. State*, — Ohio St. 3d —, 2022-Ohio-1642. The State needs to know whether it may file such appeals so that it may faithfully discharge its obligation to Ohioans.

The First District’s ruling tees up this question. Its opinion seems to prevent the State from *ever* appealing a preliminary injunction that threatens grave injury to Ohioans. That court criticized the State for “focus[ing] on harm to third-parties rather than on harm to itself.” App.Op.¶25. This misunderstands the State’s role as a sovereign: because the State exists to protect its citizens and to effect their will, injuries to “third-parties” whom the enjoined law is aimed at protecting *are* injuries to the State. Laws prohibiting murder, rape, theft, and so on, all exist to protect Ohioans. Those Ohioans are “third-parties” under the First District’s opinion. Are their interests irrelevant to the question whether *the State* would sustain a harm should such laws be enjoined? To immediately appeal an order preliminary enjoining such laws, would the State have to show an injury inflicted directly on the State, rather than on its citizens? Presumably not, though the First District’s opinion suggests the answer is “yes.” That is almost certainly wrong. If it is right, this Court should say so, so that the General Assembly can address that concerning conclusion.

One further note. The First District’s ruling creates an anomaly. It cited, as examples of allowable appeals, orders to reveal businesses’ trade secrets or confidential information. App.Op.¶27 (citing cases). It noted that, in these cases, the proverbial “bell” cannot be “unrung.” *Id.* That insight supports an immediate appeal here. To see why,



suppose a law protected millions of Ohioans' confidential information. And suppose it were enjoined, allowing the release of that information. Could the State immediately appeal? Not under the First District's logic, as the harms from the release would be felt by citizens rather than by the State itself. That makes little sense, and proves the problem with barring the State from immediately appealing to protect interests other than those that are, strictly speaking, its own.

**II. The Court should review the constitutional challenge to the Heartbeat Act, and it should do so now, as the issue is as ripe as it gets and ought not be delayed.**

Upon assuring itself of jurisdiction, the Court may "proceed to the merits" when "it is in the interest of judicial economy" to do so. *State v. Moore*, 154 Ohio St. 3d 94, 2018-Ohio-3237 ¶20. Here, the interests of judicial economy require reaching the merits. Remanding to the First District would simply delay this Court's reaching the immensely important merits questions this case presents. Those questions are purely legal in nature, and this Court must decide them sooner or later. "Remanding th[e] case for further consideration ... merely to reach an inevitable result would result in additional, unnecessary delay." *Stammco, L.L.C. v. United Tel. Co. of Ohio*, 136 Ohio St. 3d 231, 2013-Ohio-3019 ¶52; see also *Apel v. Katz*, 83 Ohio St. 3d 11 (1998). (The result in the trial court is especially inevitable, as that court has declared that its legal conclusions are "law of the case" that it will not reconsider. Transcript, Oct. 7, 2022, at 283.) The Court's "authority to address the merits" in this appeal of a preliminary injunction "is clear." *Munaf v. Geren*, 553 U.S. 674, 691 (2008). It should not shrink from its responsibility to exercise that authority.

To describe the merits issues is to highlight their importance.

*First*, do abortion clinics and abortionists—as opposed to women seeking abortions—have standing to challenge laws infringing a supposed right to abortion? Standing principles are important because they bear directly on the separation of powers: they “prevent the judicial process from being used to usurp the powers of the political branches.” *Town of Chester, N.Y. v. Laroe Estates, Inc.*, 137 S. Ct. 1645, 1650 (2017) (quotation omitted). These principles *generally* mean that plaintiffs can sue to vindicate only their own rights, not the rights of others. But a plaintiff may assert another’s rights if it: (1) “suffers its own injury in fact”; (2) “possesses a sufficiently ‘close’ relationship with the person who possesses the right”; and (3) “shows some ‘hindrance’ that stands in the way of the [rights holder] seeking relief” herself. *City of E. Liverpool v. Columbiana Cnty. Budget Comm’n*, 114 Ohio St. 3d 133, 2007–Ohio-3759 ¶22 (quotation omitted). This “third-party-standing doctrine” tests the judiciary’s commitment to separation of powers; the U.S. Supreme Court, for example, famously distorted its own third-party-standing principles to accommodate abortion litigants. *See Dobbs*, 142 S. Ct. at 2275 & n.61. This case presents the Court with an opportunity to further develop third-party-standing principles in Ohio. In so doing, it can make clear that the same rules apply *regardless* of the alleged right at issue. Standing principles, and thus the judiciary’s fidelity to the separation of powers, cannot be allowed to wax and wane depending on the right asserted.

*Second*, this case presents the question whether the Ohio Constitution protects a

right to abortion. The sooner the Court settles that question, the better. “Abortion contests of this sort are not going away.” *Preterm-Cleveland v. McCloud*, 994 F.3d 512, 535 (6th Cir. 2021) (Sutton, J., concurring). Abortion is a morally contentious issue on which well-meaning citizens hold deeply felt, irreconcilable views. Some see abortion as murder. Others think it is a medical procedure central to women’s freedom. For still others, abortion is something less absolute. “Complete elimination of the debate in one direction—that only the public, never the woman, has a say in the matter—shortchanges some interests. Complete elimination of the debate in the other direction—that only the woman, never the public, has a say in the matter—shortchanges other interests.” *Id.* “A healthy society should have free rein to navigate between these poles.” *Id.* By deciding whether the Ohio Constitution takes this issue from the democratic process, the Court can clarify Ohio’s ability to regulate abortion so as to address these competing interests.

## ARGUMENT

### **Appellants’ Proposition of Law No. 1:**

*The State may, under R.C. 2505.02(B)(4), immediately appeal orders preliminarily enjoining state laws.*

Section 2505.02(B) of the Revised Code outlines when parties may immediately appeal interlocutory orders. Relevant here, it states:

(B) An order is a final order that may be reviewed, affirmed, modified, or reversed, with or without retrial, when it is one of the following:

...

(4) An order that grants or denies a provisional remedy and to which both of the following apply:

(a) The order in effect determines the action with respect to the provisional remedy and prevents a judgment in the action in favor of the appealing party with respect to the provisional remedy.

(b) The appealing party would not be afforded a meaningful or effective remedy by an appeal following final judgment as to all proceedings, issues, claims, and parties in the action.

R.C. 2505.02(B)(4)(A). This language makes the trial court's order preliminarily enjoining Ohio's Heartbeat Act immediately appealable. A "preliminary injunction" is a provisional remedy by definition. R.C. 2505.02(A)(3). Thus, if the State can satisfy subsections (a) and (b) of R.C. 2505.02(B)(4), it is entitled to appeal immediately. The State has satisfied both. Even the First District acknowledged that the State satisfied subsection (a), as the trial court's order was final, not tentative, with respect to the question whether to issue a preliminary injunction. App.Op.¶14. And subsection (b) is satisfied because the State cannot obtain "a meaningful or effective remedy" if it awaits a final judgment before appealing. For one thing, States *always* suffer irreparable harm when their constitutionally permissible laws are enjoined. See *Maryland*, 567 U.S. at 1303 (Roberts, C.J., in chambers); *Abbot*, 138 S. Ct. at 1324; *Thompson*, 959 F.3d at 812. That irreparable harm cannot be fixed in a later appeal—the law cannot be put back into effect for the time that passed between the order's issuance and the final judgment. Further, in the abortion context, the irreparable harm is apparent for an additional reason: every abortion inflicts the most irreparable harm imaginable—death—on the unborn child. Thus, every abortion

performed because of the preliminary injunction inflicts irreparable harm that Ohio has an interest in preventing. Only an immediate appeal can redress Ohio's injuries.

**Appellants' Proposition of Law No. 2:**

*Neither abortion clinics nor abortionists have standing to challenge the Heartbeat Act.*

The plaintiffs—one abortionist and five abortion clinics—do not claim a right to perform abortions. Instead, they lean on the disfavored doctrine of third-party standing to assert *their patients'* supposed abortion rights. See *Util. Serv. Partners, Inc. v. Pub. Util. Comm.*, 124 Ohio St. 3d 284, 2009-Ohio-6764 ¶49. They cannot meet any of the three requirements—much less do so for *each* provision they challenge, as they must. See *Preterm-Cleveland, Inc. v. Kasich*, 153 Ohio St. 3d 157, 2018-Ohio-441 ¶30.

Courts allow third-party standing only if the plaintiff: (1) “suffers its own injury in fact”; (2) “possesses a sufficiently ‘close’ relationship with the person who possesses the right”; and (3) “shows some ‘hindrance’ that stands in the way of the [rights holder] seeking relief” herself. *City of E. Liverpool*, 114 Ohio St. 3d 133 ¶22 (quotation omitted).

Plaintiffs fail that test. First, doctors and clinics have no right to perform abortions. See *State v. Alfieri*, 132 Ohio App.3d 69, 79 (1st Dist. 1998); see also *Planned Parenthood of Greater Ohio v. Hodges*, 917 F.3d 908, 912 (6th Cir. 2019) (*en banc*). So the Heartbeat Act does not deprive *the plaintiffs* of any legal interest—it inflicts no injury in fact upon them. Second, women seeking abortions usually do “not develop a close relationship with the doctor who performs the [abortion],” let alone with the clinic. *June Med. Services L.L.C. v.*

*Russo*, 140 S. Ct. 2103, 2168 (2020) (Alito, J., dissenting), *overruled by Dobbs*, 142 S. Ct. 2228; *id.* at 2174 (Gorsuch, J., dissenting). Third, nothing prevents would-be patients from suing to vindicate abortion rights. *Roe v. Wade* itself involved an individual woman suing anonymously. *Id.* at 2168 (Alito, J., dissenting). For decades, even *juveniles* have anonymously sought court orders allowing them to obtain abortions. *See, e.g., In re Doe*, 7th Dist. Columbiana No. 11CO34, 2011-Ohio-6373 ¶1. So it is absurd to say that patients generally, most of whom are *adults*, cannot do the same. *June Med.*, 140 S. Ct. at 2169 (Alito, J., dissenting); *id.* at 2174 (Gorsuch, J., dissenting).

**Appellants’ Proposition of Law No. 3:**

*The Ohio Constitution creates no right to abortion.*

The Ohio Constitution creates no right to abortion. In concluding otherwise, the trial court invoked the substantive-due-process doctrine and the Equal Protection and Benefit Clause. *See* Art I, §2. It erred.

**A. The Due Course of Law Clause provides:**

All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done him in his land, goods, person, or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, and shall have justice administered without denial or delay. Suits may be brought against the state, in such courts and in such manner, as may be provided by law.

Ohio Const., Art. I, §16. As originally understood, this provision granted only procedural rights, not substantive rights. *See State v. Aalim*, 150 Ohio St. 3d 489, 2017-Ohio-2956 ¶¶40, 45–48 (DeWine, J., concurring). But this Court has long interpreted the Clause to protect

some unenumerated “fundamental” rights—in other words, “rights objectively, deeply rooted in this Nation’s history and tradition ... and implicit in the concept of ordered liberty, such that neither liberty nor justice would exist if they were sacrificed.” *Aalim*, 150 Ohio St. 3d 489 ¶16 (quotation omitted). Laws that burden fundamental rights are unconstitutional unless they are narrowly tailored to meet a compelling state interest. *See Arbino v. Johnson & Johnson*, 116 Ohio St. 3d 468, 2007-Ohio-6948 ¶48; *Stolz v. J & B Steel Erectors*, 155 Ohio St. 3d 567, 2018-Ohio-5088 ¶14.

The Due Course of Law Clause confers no right to abortion. First, abortion is not a “fundamental right,” *Stolz*, 2018-Ohio-5088 ¶14, because it is not “objectively, deeply rooted in this Nation’s history and tradition.” *Aalim*, 150 Ohio St. 3d 489 ¶16 (quotation omitted). Indeed, abortion was a *crime* for much of American history. Ohio, for its part, criminalized abortion at all times between 1834 and *Roe v. Wade*. *See* Ohio Gen. Stat. §§ 111(1), 112 (2) (1834); Ohio Gen. Stat. §§111, 112 (1841); R.C. 2901.16 (1972). This Court even affirmed a conviction under the 1834 law shortly after the People ratified the Due Course of Law Clause, proving that the Clause was not understood to confer any abortion right. *Wilson v. State*, 2 Ohio St. 319, 320–21 (1853).

Second, this Court has held that the Due Course of Law Clause and the federal Due Process Clause confer “equivalent” protections. *Arbino*, 116 Ohio St. 3d 468, 2007-Ohio-6948 ¶48. Because the Due Process Clause confers no right to abortion, *see Dobbs*, 142 S. Ct. at 2242–43, neither does the Due Course of Law Clause.

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