In the Supreme Court of Ohio

PRETERM-CLEVELAND, ET AL.	:	Case No. 2023-0004
Appellees,	:	On appeal from the Hamilton County Court of
v.	:	Appeals, First Appellate District
DAVE YOST, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF OHIO, ET AL.,	:	Court of Appeals Case No. C-220504
Appellants.	:	

MEMORANDUM OF APPELLEES PRETERM-CLEVELAND, ET AL. IN OPPOSITION TO JURISDICTION

B. JESSIE HILL (0074770) *Counsel of Record* FREDA J. LEVENSON (0045916) REBECCA KENDIS (0099129) ACLU of Ohio Foundation 4506 Chester Ave. Cleveland, OH 44103 614-586-1972 216-368-0553 (Hill) bjh11@cwru.edu flevenson@acluohio.org rebecca.kendis@case.edu

INTRODUCTION

The State asks this Court to review the First District Court of Appeals' ("First District") decision that it did not have jurisdiction over the trial court's order granting a preliminary injunction. The First District's decision was correct and does not warrant this Court's review.

Under well-settled Ohio law, preliminary injunction orders that maintain the status quo are not appealable. That is all the preliminary injunction at issue in this case does. It preserves the decades-old status quo related to abortion in Ohio until factual development in this litigation is complete and the trial court rules on Appellees' request for a permanent injunction. The only issue addressed by the First District—whether it had jurisdiction to review the trial court's entry of a preliminary injunction—is neither a substantial constitutional question nor a question of great public or general interest. Nonetheless, the State asks this Court to permit this appeal, in contravention of both longstanding Ohio precedent and rules of appellate jurisdiction.

Not content with this attempted end-run around Ohio's clear jurisdictional rules, the State is also trying to uproot standard procedure by asking this Court to address the merits of this dispute before the First District has had the opportunity to do so, and while significant factual and legal development remains to be done in the trial court. At bottom, the State's position is that the underlying subject matter of this case is of intense political interest, and therefore this Court should abandon settled procedural and jurisdictional rules and decide the merits now. The exact opposite is true. It is precisely in the most controversial cases that adherence to settled procedural rules is most important: only such adherence can ensure public confidence in the legitimacy of the judiciary's actions.

This Court will have a full opportunity to weigh in on the merits of this case once the factual record is complete and the lower courts have reached decisions on the merits. It would be highly premature for the Court to intervene now. Accordingly, Appellees respectfully request that this

Court dismiss the State's appeal for lack of jurisdiction and remand to the trial court consistent with the instructions of the First District.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND RELEVANT FACTS

1. Ohioans have enjoyed legal and safe abortion access for nearly five decades.

2. That would change under S.B. 23, which requires that if a pregnancy is located in the uterus, abortion providers must determine whether there is cardiac activity (typically detectable at approximately six weeks after the first day of a patient's last menstrual period ("LMP"), and sometimes even as early as five weeks LMP). If there is cardiac activity, S.B. 23 makes it a crime to "caus[e] or abet[] the termination of" the pregnancy. S.B. 23, Section 1, amending R.C. 2919.192(A), 2919.192(B), and 2919.195(A).

3. S.B. 23 has only two very limited exceptions: abortion after cardiac activity is detected is permitted only if the abortion is necessary (1) to prevent the woman's death, or (2) to prevent a "serious risk of the substantial and irreversible impairment of a major bodily function." S.B. 23, Section 1, amending R.C. 2919.195(B). The language of these exceptions offers no clarity as to which medical situations—other than those specifically enumerated in the statute—create a "serious risk of the substantial and irreversible impairment of a major bodily function." As a result, S.B. 23 puts clinicians in the position of having to turn away patients experiencing significant health issues due to uncertainty as to whether the statutory definition applies to their circumstances. *See* Amended Verified Complaint (Jan. 31, 2023) ¶ 43.

4. Violations of S.B. 23 are punishable by imprisonment of up to one year and a fine of \$2,500, and also expose physicians to severe civil penalties, including license revocation and additional fines. *See id.* ¶¶ 45-48.

5. S.B. 23 thus effectively bans abortion starting at an extremely early point in

pregnancy and, if permitted to take effect, would all but eliminate access to abortion in Ohio.

6. Appellees—reproductive health care providers in Ohio—first challenged S.B. 23 in federal court in 2019, shortly after it was passed. *See Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, No. 1:19-cv-00360, Dkt. #1. On July 3, 2019, the federal district court preliminarily enjoined S.B. 23 before it went into effect, finding that the ban would "prohibit almost all abortion care in Ohio," violating Ohioans' rights under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. *Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, 394 F.Supp.3d 796, 800-801 (S.D. Ohio 2019). The injunction remained in place until it was vacated by the same court on June 24, 2022, just hours after the Supreme Court's decision in *Dobbs v. Jackson Women's Health Organization*. *Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, No. 1:19-cv-00360, Dkt. #100.

7. Appellees commenced the present action on September 2, 2022, seeking emergency relief (including a temporary restraining order and a preliminary injunction) from the Hamilton County Court of Common Pleas (the "trial court") due to the significant and irreparable harm caused by S.B. 23 during the two short months in which it had been in effect.¹ Appellees' initial Complaint asserted claims for violations of the fundamental right to abortion provided by the Ohio Constitution's broad protections for individual liberty under Article 1, Sections 1, 16, and 21, and the Ohio Constitution's equal protection and benefit guarantee under Article 1, Section 2.

¹ On June 29, 2022, Appellees filed a petition for a writ of mandamus with this Court, seeking an order declaring S.B. 23 unconstitutional. *See State ex rel. Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, Case No. 2022-0803. Appellees voluntarily dismissed their petition in September 2022, due to the ongoing irreparable harm caused by S.B. 23's enforcement and their clients' and clients' patients' need for immediate relief. Ohio S.Ct. Case Announcement 2022-Ohio-3174.

Appellees also brought a claim arising from S.B. 23's unconstitutional vagueness, in violation of Article 1, Section 16, but did not move for preliminary injunctive relief on that claim.²

8. On September 14, 2022, the trial court entered a 14-day temporary restraining order enjoining enforcement of S.B. 23. On September 27, 2022, the court extended this order by 14 days to enable the parties to conduct expedited discovery in advance of a scheduled hearing on Appellees' preliminary injunction motion. The parties had a little over two weeks to conduct this limited discovery before presenting evidence and live witness testimony at a single-day preliminary injunction hearing on October 7, 2022.

9. On October 12, 2022, the day that the temporary restraining order was set to expire, the trial court granted Appellees' request for a preliminary injunction, finding that they had demonstrated "a substantial likelihood of success on the merits" of their claims and "that they and their patients will suffer irreparable harm under S.B. 23." *See* Order Entering Preliminary Injunction (Oct. 12, 2022) ("PI Order") ¶¶ 81, 112, 124. The trial court expressly noted that its decision was based on "the limited record before the Court" and that "trial on the merits … was *not* consolidated" with the preliminary injunction hearing. (Emphasis added.) PI Order at 1, fn.1.

10. The State appealed the PI Order, and the First District, *sua sponte*, ordered briefing on whether it had jurisdiction to hear the appeal, separate and apart from any merits briefing. *See* Entry Ordering Jurisdictional Briefing (Oct. 28, 2022). Although the State submitted its merits

² On January 31, 2023, Appellees filed an Amended Complaint. In addition to their constitutional claims, Appellees have brought a claim that S.B. 23 is void *ab initio* as it violated federal law at the time of its enactment. Neither Appellees' vagueness claim nor their void *ab initio* claim has been litigated before the trial court.

brief while waiting for the First District's ruling on jurisdiction, see Appellants' Br. (Dec. 12, 2022), the First District issued its decision before Appellees' merits brief was due.

11. On December 16, 2022, the First District held that it lacked jurisdiction and dismissed the appeal. *See Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, 1st Dist. Hamilton No. C-220504, 2022-Ohio-4540 ("App."). The court's decision was limited solely to the question of appellate jurisdiction. *See* App. ¶ 8 ("[W]e do not weigh the merits of the case; rather, we must determine the threshold question of whether, under Ohio law, we may exercise jurisdiction over the state's appeal of the preliminary injunction order.").

12. In its decision, the First District held that the PI Order is not an appealable final order under R.C. 2505.02(B)(4), because it is merely a preliminary order "issued... on a limited record and on an expedited basis" that "maintains the precontroversy status quo." App. ¶¶ 19, 23. The court concluded that the result was compelled by Ohio law on appellate jurisdiction, observing "we cannot expand our jurisdiction simply because the case is a significant one." *Id.* ¶ 29.

13. While the State's appeal to the First District was pending, the trial court held a case management conference on December 14, 2022. *See* Dec. 14, 2022 Case Management Conference Transcript ("Tr."). In advance of the conference, the parties submitted proposed case schedules. *See* Joint Scheduling Report (Dec. 8, 2022). During the conference, the trial court decided to delay issuing a scheduling order until the resolution of the State's First District appeal, and the State did not object. Tr. at 4:12-20. As noted above, the First District's opinion came out on December 16 and, on January 3, 2023, the State then noticed an appeal to this Court. As a result, proceedings in the trial court have not yet moved forward, solely due to the State's continuing appeals.

I. <u>THIS APPEAL INVOLVES A PURELY JURISDICTIONAL ISSUE THAT DOES</u> <u>NOT RAISE A MATTER OF PUBLIC OR GREAT GENERAL INTEREST AND</u> <u>DOES NOT INVOLVE A SUBSTANTIAL CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION</u>

To demonstrate that this Court has jurisdiction over this appeal, the State must show that this appeal raises a "substantial constitutional question" or "a question of public or great general interest." S.Ct.Prac.R. 5.02(A). They do not—and cannot—show either.

First, there is no constitutional question at issue in this appeal. This Court has found that it has jurisdiction where an appeal "presents a properly debatable constitutional issue" *Smith v. Leis*, 2005-Ohio-5125, 106 Ohio St. 3d 309, 835 N.E.2d 5, ¶ 15. The issue decided by the First District was whether the PI Order constituted a final appealable order under R.C. 2505.02(B)(4).³ As noted by the First District, this is an issue that "obligates [the court] to consider the language of the governing statute" App. ¶ 10. In other words, this issue boils down to "whether [the] order constitutes a final appealable order under R.C. 2505.02(B)(4)," *id.* ¶ 11—which is a limited question of statutory interpretation, not a constitutional question.

Second, the statutory question is routine, narrow, and uncontroversial and presents no question of public or great general interest. This Court has cautioned that questions of public or great general interest must be distinguished "from questions of interest primarily to the parties." *Williamson v. Rubich*, 171 Ohio St. 253, 254, 168 N.E.2d 876 (1960). This standard may be met, for instance, by a "novel question[] of law or procedure" *Noble v. Colwell*, 44 Ohio St. 3d 92, 94, 540 N.E.2d 1381 (1989).⁴ The procedural question of whether a particular preliminary

³ As the First District recognized, "[t]he parties agree that the only subsection of R.C. 2505.02 at issue here is R.C. 2505.02(B)(4) " App. ¶ 10.

⁴ The merits of this case—namely, the question of whether S.B. 23 violates rights protected by the Ohio Constitution—certainly concern significant constitutional questions of great general interest. But the merits are not currently on appeal or ripe for decision by this Court, and are thus irrelevant

injunction order is appealable does not meet this high threshold. The First District's holding that the PI Order is not an appealable final order under R.C. 2505.02(B)(4), but merely a preliminary order that "maintains the precontroversy status quo," App. ¶ 23, accords with well-established law, *see id.* ¶ 21 (collecting cases). Ohio courts routinely consider whether preliminary injunctions constitute final and appealable orders. *See infra* Section II. As a result, they have developed a well-tested set of standards to guide this inquiry, which the First District applied in concluding that the PI Order did not constitute a final, appealable order. *See* App. ¶¶ 10-15, 17-28.

In short, as the First District recognized, there is extensive Ohio precedent concerning the interpretation of R.C. 2505.02, and the State's challenge is anything but "novel." *See Noble*, 44 Ohio St. 3d at 94, 540 N.E.2d 1381. The State has done nothing to demonstrate that there is any dispute regarding the application of R.C. 2505.02(B)(4): either in its jurisdictional memorandum, which does not cite a single Ohio state case in support of its first Proposition of Law, *see* State's Br. at 9-11; or in its briefing before the First District, which prompted that court to note that "the state's defense of appellate jurisdiction is notably sparse on Ohio caselaw, and the cases it does cite are distinguishable from the controversy at hand." App. ¶ 27.

Moreover, the State is incorrect to assert that the First District's decision "prevent[s] the State from *ever* appealing a preliminary injunction" State's Br. at 6. The decision merely addresses the appealability of the PI Order in *this* case. *See* App. ¶ 28 ("*In the case at hand* ... we hold that *the trial court's order* granting plaintiffs' motion for a preliminary injunction does not satisfy the requirements of a final appealable order" (Emphases added.)). Indeed, a recent decision

to this Court's jurisdictional analysis under S.Ct.Prac.R. 5.02(A). *See infra* Section III. Were the existence of such issues in a case enough to invoke this Court's jurisdiction, the rules of Ohio appellate procedure imposing specific limits would become irrelevant any time a constitutional claim is involved in any case.

by the Tenth District Court of Appeals proves precisely this point. *See City of Columbus v. Ohio*, 10th Dist. Franklin No. 22AP-676, 2023-Ohio-195. There, the court held that a recently-granted preliminary injunction against the State was appealable as it altered the status quo by enjoining a long-standing statute that had been in effect for over eight years before the City of Columbus filed suit. *See id.* ¶ 15.⁵ The decision in this case does not preclude the State's ability to establish jurisdiction in any other appeal, and it will not do so in the future.

This Court has repeatedly refused to exercise its jurisdiction where a party has sought to appeal a lower court's application of R.C.2505.02(B)(4) to a preliminary injunction. *See, e.g.*, *Wells Fargo Ins. Servs. USA, Inc. v. Gingrich*, 132 Ohio St. 3d 1462, 2012-Ohio-3054, 969 N.E.2d 1230; *Davis v. CNG Fin. Corp.*, 119 Ohio St. 3d 1445, 2008-Ohio-4487, 893 N.E.2d 516; *DPL, Inc. v. Forester*, 109 Ohio St. 3d 1425, 2006-Ohio-1967, 846 N.E.2d 535; *Wellman Seeds, Inc. v. Delphos*, 82 Ohio St. 3d 1412, 694 N.E.2d 75 (1998). As this Court has found, whether one particular preliminary injunction is an appealable final order does not raise a substantial constitutional question or one of great public interest. In short, "with respect to preliminary injunction orders that preserve the status quo, Ohio courts have spoken." App. ¶ 22. This Court should accordingly find that this issue does not fall within its jurisdiction.

II. <u>RESPONSE TO PROPOSITION OF LAW NO. 1: THE PI ORDER IS NOT FINAL</u> <u>AND APPEALABLE</u>

"[A]n order granting or denying a preliminary injunction is a final, appealable order *only* if it satisfies the two-prong test in R.C. 2505.02(B)(4)." (Emphasis added.) *Swan Creek Twp. Bd. Of*

⁵ The court distinguished the First District's decision in this case, as the PI Order did not deprive the State of a meaningful or effective remedy in part because S.B. 23 had been enjoined for nearly three years prior to this litigation. *See* 10th Dist. Franklin No. 22AP-676, 2023-Ohio-195, ¶ 18.

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